1979

# Price Construction Co. v. Hal Foutz, Et Ux : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiff brought suit in unlawful retainer against defendants for possession of home and treble damages; together with an action for the court determining ownership and immediate possession of the residence together with a reasonable attorney's fee and costs. Defendant counterclaimed for specific performance of contract or in the alternative to specific performance, damages, both compensatory and punitive together with a reasonable attorney's fee and costs.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The Honorable David Sam of the Fourth Judicial District Court of Utah County, without a jury, ruled that the Earnest Money Receipt was a clear, unambiguous and final contract; that plaintiff was entitled to immediate possession of the house and

ordered defendants to vacate the residence; that defendants were entitled to have returned the \$10,000.00 down payment less \$350.00 per month as rent for the premises during defendants' occupancy. The court ruled that the Earnest Money Receipt was a final contract and that the defendants were in default. The court further ruled that defendants were guilty of unlawful detainer, that plaintiff was entitled to treble damages but offset the treble damages by reason of the increased value of the house since the parties entered into the contract of sale. The court allowed an offset of plaintiff's damages against the \$10,000.00 down payment which defendants made on the house. The court gave defendants credit for \$300.00 improvement on the yard, improvements in the house not to exceed \$1,000.00 and awarded plaintiff \$1,550.00 in attorney's fee together with costs. The court ruled that 61-2-2 UCA, 1953, was not applicable. The court further ruled that the plaintiff had made full disclosure to defendants and had not misrepresented the house.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellants seek reversal of the decision of the lower court; to have this court determine that the Earnest Money Receipt was not a final contract and that the parties should make and enter into the final contract, with all of the terms, as provided for in the Earnest Money Receipt. Or in the alternative, to determine

that under the facts plaintiff did misrepresent the house to defendants, that said misrepresentations were material. Appellants request this court to rule that the decision of the lower court amounts to a wrongful unjust enrichment to plaintiffs of approximately \$15,000.00. Appellants request this court to rule that Title 61, UCA 1953 applies to the facts of this case and that defendants are entitled, as a matter of law, to damages.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The parties signed a Earnest Money Receipt and Offer to Purchase, the printed form used by realtors, on November 29, 1977, at which time plaintiff sold to defendant a residence in Orem, Utah, for the purchase price of \$52,000.00, \$600.00 which was paid down as earnest money. The Earnest Money Agreement provided for rent at the rate of \$350.00 a month to be paid to Seller, plaintiff, until the final closing of the sale and the final agreement between the parties. Defendants paid the rent and was having difficulty in selling their residence in Las Vegas, Nevada, which was stated in said Earnest Money Receipt. The earnest money payment of \$600.00 was paid to the president of plaintiff corporation, who was also a principal officer and stockholder in the real estate broker involved. The \$600.00 earnest money was not placed into a trust account of either the broker or the plaintiff.

On May 25, 1978, the parties signed a second Earnest Money Receipt and Offer to Purchase, the pre-printed form, at which time appellants paid to respondents \$10,000.00. The second

Earnest Money Receipt expressly stated that it superseded the first Earnest Money Receipt. Again, the \$10,000.00 was delivered to Mr. Larry Price, president of plaintiff and a principal officer and stockholder in the real estate company involved. (Ex. 1, ; TR 7, Line 10; TR 15, Line 3) The Earnest Money Receipt, Exhibit 1, was prepared by plaintiff's employee and realtor agent. (TR 18) The \$10,000.00 payment made by appellant to respondent went as a part payment on the lot of the house in question and sold to appellants. (TR 38, Line 13) Mr. Lund, the real estate agent and employee of Larry Price, President of respondent, informed appellants that Seller would not pay the FHA or VA points on the house. He specifically told appellants that "they could probably finance the home FHA if they were willing to make an offer at a higher price than \$52,000.00 list price." (TR 42, Lines 8-12) Mr. Lund, realtor, agent and employee of the president of plaintiff corporation, told Mr. Foutz that the residence in question would probably qualify for an FHA or VA loan. (TR 51, Line 14-17)

Appellants could not get conventional financing on the house by reason of them opening a new self-employed business in the State of Utah. Appellants applied to approximately ten places for a conventional loan, as recommended and assisted by Mr. Lund, realtor, agent and employee of Larry Price, president of plaintiff. (TR 75, Line 5-10; 76, Line 18-21)

Appellants did not know that the house in question would not qualify for VA or FHA loan on May 25, 1978, the signing

of the Earnest Money Receipt, Exhibit 1, and would not have purchased the house had appellants realized the house would not qualify for VA or FHA loan. Appellants pursued conventional financing at the suggestion of Mr. Lund, plaintiff's realtor and agent and relied upon Mr. Lund for the conventional financing. (TR 97, Line 10-13) The conventional loans did not materialize because the conventional loan money at that time dried up. (TR 98, Line 1,2) Prior to and during the time of the trial herein, appellants had applied for a VA or FHA loan and the matter was being processed (TR 97, Line 14-26). Appellants are willing to pay any and all necessary discount points under the law to qualify for VA or FHA by reason of increase in purchase price or otherwise. (TR 99, Line 4-7) Appellants could have borrowed money by reason of the value of the house in question to pay any necessary additional costs of the VA or FHA discount points. (TR 104, Line 24-30; TR 105, Line 1)

The appraised valuation of the house in question on August of 1978 was \$58,000.00. (TR 105, Line 25) Appellants discovered the house would not qualify for FHA because it was in a planned unit development and specific items must be done to qualify said house for FHA financing. (TR 76, Line 19-21; TR 81, Line 25-30) The value of the house at the time of the trial was between \$65,000.00 and \$75,000.00. (TR 49, Line 28-29)

Mr. Brian Crandall, one of the employees of plaintiff and a witness of respondents, testified that prior to the signing

of the Earnest Money Receipt, it was not disclosed to appellants that the house would not qualify for VA or FHA. (TR 122, Line 25-3)

Appellants tendered and offered to enter into a final real estate contract, spelling out all of the terms and agreements between the parties, but respondents failed and refused to do so.

All during the negotiations, the sale, and the attempts for financing, the realtor-agent, Mr. Lund, was an employee and agent of Mr. Larry Price, president of plaintiff corporation; Mr. Price having an interest in the real estate company involved and being one of the owners of said real estate company. (TR 36, Line 7-21)

The earnest money payments, both the \$600.00 and the \$10,000.00 were not placed into a trust fund of the realtor and there was no formal closing of the contract or the final contract entered into.

Exhibit 1 attached to defendants' memorandum of facts and authorities on the above matter and entitled "Statement of Cost and Mortgage Loan Required by Regulation Z" is the standard application form for FHA loans as used by First Security Bank which is typical. On said Exhibit 1, there is a specific provision that states for a disclosure of the loan discount fee to be paid by the buyer or the loan discount fee to be paid by the seller. This is specific evidence on the standards and practice of the financing trade and the FHA regulations. Attached as Exhibit 2 to the same defendants' memorandum, is a copy of the rules and

regulations of the State of Utah Real Estate License Law and as having been adopted in Utah County as well as other counties in the State of Utah. Said regulations provide in part as follows:

1. On Page 5, Paragraph 14C it provides for the broker to prepare closing statements. This was not done in the case now before the court.
2. Paragraph 15 provides for the placing of 100% of all funds belonging to others into a trust account by brokers involved. This was not done in the case pending before the court.
3. Paragraph 25 provides that when the seller fails or is unable to consummate the contract, the broker has no right to any portion of the money deposited by the buyer and relates specifically to earnest money. This has not been done in the case now pending before the court.

The Earnest Money Receipt (Exhibit 1) calls for rent of \$350.00 per month. On August 15, 1978, plaintiff sent a notice to defendants unilaterally attempting to raise the rent to \$600.00 per month. The purpose being to try to force defendant out of the house. (TR 49, Line 4-11)

A R G U M E N T

POINT I

LOWER COURT ERRED IN RULING PLAINTIFF'S AGENTS NOT "A REAL ESTATE BROKER" AND IN A FIDUCIARY CAPACITY AS DEFINED IN 61-2-2 UCA, 1953

Exhibit 1, the Earnest Money Receipt in question, is a pre-printed form in this case prepared by and furnished by the seller and his agents. The Earnest Money Agreement specifically provides on Line 33 that there will be either a contract of sale or an instrument of conveyance; Line 39 that it constitutes "the entire preliminary contract" and then goes on further and stated "as further agreed that execution of the final contract shall abrogate this Earnest Money Receipt and Offer to Purchase." It is clear from the language of the Earnest Money Receipt and the intention of the parties that the Earnest Money Receipt is merely a preliminary agreement. Prior to and during the course of the trial, appellants offered to enter into a final agreement between the parties and incorporating the provisions and Earnest Money Receipt, the oral discussions and particularly the question of discount points for FHA or VA financing. Appellants specifically requested specific performance to order the parties to enter into a final contract. There are many items in the final contract that will have to be specifically described that are not in the Earnest Money Receipt. The financing of the property is still being worked on and appellants are not in default of the

Earnest Money Receipt. They have been paying rent, parties agreed that rent could be deducted from the \$10,000.00 payment by appellants to respondent. Specific performance is an equitable relief and under the facts of this case appellants are entitled to equitable relief to conclude the purchase between the parties.

The purchase price has been defined, the fact that respondent is getting rent until the installment payments or lump sum payments are made protects the respondent from any loss. The failure of respondent to inform appellants that the house would not qualify for FHA or VA and the fact that respondent's agents steered appellants to conventional financing is the reason for the delay in the final contract and payments to which respondent is entitled.

In Bunnell vs. Bills, 13 Utah 2d 83, 368 P2d 597, this court ruled that an Earnest Money Receipt was a binding contract that can be specifically enforced, under the facts of that case. Appellants seek to enforce the Earnest Money Receipt provisions together with the other provisions not mentioned in said Earnest Money Receipt. This fact situation before the court graphically illustrates the necessity for final contracts as provided for and which may be enforced under these Earnest Money Receipts. Failure to specifically enforce the contract of appellants constitutes unjust enrichment to the respondent in the sum of approximately \$15,000.00. Appellants have performed and are continuing their performance under the agreement between the parties. The delays in the closing is a result of the failure to disclose and mis-information furnished appellants by respondent and its agents.

POINT II

LOWER COURT ERRED IN RULING PLAINTIFF AND HIS AGENTS DID NOT BREACH A FIDUCIARY DUTY IN FAILING TO PLACE PAYMENTS INTO TRUST ACCOUNT AS PROVIDED FOR IN 61-2-11 UCA, 1953; AND ERRED FAILING TO AWARD PENALTY PROVISION AGAINST PLAINTIFF AS PROVIDED IN 61-2-17 UCA, 1953.

61-2-2 UCA, 1953, defines "real estate broker" and states in part as follows: ". . . the term "real estate broker" shall also include any person, partnership, association or corporation employed by or on behalf of the owner or owners of lots or other parcels of real estate. . ." This section makes an exception to some isolated sales and where you are your own owner and selling your own property. The evidence before this court clearly discloses that Mr. Price does not have an interest in the licensed real estate broker involved, Courtesy Real Estate; that Mr. Price was the contractor that built the house and his representative, Mr. Lund, was the individual working with appellants for the financing.

The evidence discloses that the original \$600.00 on the first Earnest Money Receipt was not placed into a trust account nor was the \$10,000.00 payment made by appellants to respondents.

61-2-11 UCA 1953, has provision for the requirement of depositing earnest money and down payments in trust account of the real estate broker. It describes that failure to do so is grounds for revocation or suspension of the license of the

broker.

The section further discusses that there must be adequate records of these transactions, how the trust funds are held and whether used by the builder, the amounts of the commissions and to whom the proceeds were disbursed. There is no evidence before the court that this has been done. See Reese vs. Harper, 8 Utah 2d 119, 329 P2d 410, as distinguished in 10 Utah 2d 930, 297; 353 P2d 989; and 29 Utah 2d 280, 508 P2d 542, which hold as follows:

"A broker has the responsibility of honestly and fairly representing those who engage his services and because of this specialized service the broker offers as an agent for his client, there arises a fiduciary agreement between them."

The State of Utah Real Estate License Law Rules and Regulations specifically provide under 61-2-5(b) that there shall be closing statements, that the broker shall be held responsible for correctness of all closing statements; it further provides for a trust account to be used for all down payment, earnest monies, costs, rents, payments on contracts, mortgages, etc. "The said trust account shall at all times contain 100% of all funds belonging to others." (See Paragraph 15 of the printed brochure, which is attached to appellants' memorandum on file.) Paragraph 25 of said regulation and laws specifically provides in part: "When for any reason seller fails or is unable to consummate a contract, the broker has no right to any portion of the money deposited with him by the buyer."

It is clear as to the importance of these rules and regulations, which have not been followed and have been refused

by respondents, their agents and the realtors involved. There has been a total of \$10,600.00 in down payments made upon the property as well as rent paid by appellants at the rate of approximately \$350.00 a month since November, 1977, to and including the present time by reason of cash payments and credits agreed upon toward the \$10,000.00 payment made to respondent; all as agreed upon between the parties. None of these funds have been trust funded as required by law. The importance of this regulation is pointed out in this case before the court to require the parties to enter into a final contract. The final contract in this case would avoid the problems of failure to disclose the financibility of the house in question and avoid many problems for all parties. Respondent refuses to enter into the final contract for the reason that they are getting rent on the property, and are receiving the equivalent of a forfeiture of \$15,000.00 in increased value to the house in question.

61-2-11, UCA 1953, specifically requires rent, earnest monies, down payments, payments on contracts, all to be placed into a trust account until the final contract between the parties is entered into. This has not been done in the case before the court. All of the parties would be strongly motivated to enter into the final contract if these funds had been deposited on trust, the final contract entered into and the closing are required by law performed. See 61-2-2, UCA 1953; 61-2-11, UCA 1953; 61-2-17, UCA 1953; 61-2-5(b), UCA 1953.

POINT III

LOWER COURT ERRED FAILING TO FIND MISREPRESENTATION AS TO FINANCIBILITY OF HOUSE AND DEFENDANTS' RIGHT TO DAMAGES AS A RESULT THEREOF. IN THE ALTERNATIVE, LOWER COURT ERRED TO GRANT SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE IN THE FORM OF A FINAL CONTRACT OF SALE BETWEEN THE PARTIES AND THEREFORE CAUSED UNJUST ENRICHMENT TO DEFENDANTS.

Mr. Lund, Agent of Respondent, specifically testified that prior to the signing of the Earnest Money Agreement in question, that he nor none of the agents or representatives of respondent informed the appellants that the house would not then qualify for FHA or VA; and that it probably would qualify. Appellants testified that they relied upon their understanding that the house would qualify for FHA or VA loans; that they preferred FHA or VA loans but that respondent's agents kept encouraging them and steering them towards conventional loans at a time when the conventional loan money had dried up. Appellants specifically testified that they would not have purchased the house had they known that the house would not qualify for FHA or VA loans. This is a specific example of failure to disclose the fact that the house did not qualify but they were informed that it probably would qualify. As a direct result of reliance upon this misrepresentation, the proper financing and loans were not closed or obtained. The evidence is clear that these applications are still pending before FHA and VA. The elements of misrepresentation, to wit, false statements, material fact, reliance upon, and damage, are all present in the case now before this court.

As a direct result of this material fact and misrepresentation, appellants have been damaged by the amount of the money that they have paid in the form of rent, payments of \$10,600.00, and a loss of increase in the value of the home in approximately \$15,000.00.

Appellants are clearly entitled to damages as provided for in Title 61 for failure to trust fund the payments, together with all other damages, which were tendered in the form of evidence at the time of the trial of this matter in the lower court. The lower court erroneously ruled that the unlawful detainer, Title 78, Chapter 36, UCA 1953, applied; in that this was not a landlord-tenant situation but was a seller and buyer relationship in which the buyer agreed to pay rent during the term of the preliminary contract. The damages requested were in the alternative to specific performance of the final contract of sale between the parties.

Under the evidence, appellants, the buyer, could and would have paid any and all discount points for FHA. This is another item that needed to be placed in the final contract between the parties and which was some of the many discussions on the subject matter.

#### POINT IV

#### LOWER COURT ERRED IN AWARDING ATTORNEY FEES TO PLAINTIFF

The contract between the parties was enforceable and

still in force and effect without default on the part of appellants. Rent had been paid in the form of cash and, as agreed between the parties, credits of \$350.00 per month upon the \$10,000.00 payment by appellant to respondent. The matter was not "closed" for the reason that the final contract had not been entered into or proposed. Appellants proffered a final contract prior to commencement of suit. The VA and FHA loan applications are still pending and were at the time of the commencement of suit. Title 78, Chapter 36, UCA, unlawful detainer, does not apply to a buy and sell agreement; this not being a landlord-tenant situation even though rent was being paid until the contract was finalized and closed. The parties had, by their conduct, waived the strict time for closing the contract particularly where respondent refused to enter into a final contract, which was required.

There being no default on the part of appellants, the court erred in awarding attorney's fees and costs. To the contrary, respondents refused to enter into a final contract, misled appellants on the financing and created the problems complained of. Their conduct clearly amounts to an unjust enrichment which equity forbids.

CONCLUSION

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