1980

## Price Construction Co. v. Hal Foutz, Et Ux : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiff brought suit in unlawful detainer against Defendants for possession of home and treble damages; together with an action for the Court determining ownership and immediate possession of the residence together with a reasonable attorney's fee and costs. Defendant counterclaimed for specific performance of contract or in the alternative to specific performance, damages, both compensatory and punitive together with a reasonable attorney's fee and costs.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The Honorable David Sam of the Fourth Judicial District Court of Utah County, without a jury, ruled that the written Agreement between the parties was clear and unambiguous; that

Plaintiff was entitled to immediate possession of the house and ordered Defendants to vacate the residence; that Defendants were entitled to have returned the \$10,000.00 down payment less \$350.00 per month as rent for the premises during Defendants' occupancy. The Court ruled that the Defendants were in default under the Agreement between the parties. The Court further ruled that Defendants were guilty of unlawful detainer, that Plaintiff was entitled to treble damages but offset the treble damages by reason of the increased value of the house since the parties entered into the contract of sale. The Court allowed an offset of Plaintiff's damages against the \$10,000.00 down payment which Defendants made on the house. The Court gave Defendants credit for \$300.00 improvement on the yard, improvements in the house not to exceed \$1,000.00 and awarded Plaintiff \$1,550.00 in attorney's fee together with costs. The Court ruled that 61-2-2 UCA, 1953, was not applicable. The Court further ruled that the Plaintiff had made full disclosure to Defendants and had not misrepresented the house.

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent asks this Court to affirm the decision and judgment of the lower Court.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

With reference to rule 75 (p) (2) URCP, the respondent disagrees with the statement of facts contained in the Brief of

the Appellant. The Respondent hereafter states the facts, relevant to the points raised on appeal as it finds them:

(The Agreement)

On May 25, 1978, the parties entered into a written Agreement, Exhibit 1. (T.3-4). Under the terms of the Agreement (Exhibit 1) Price Construction Company, the Plaintiff and Respondent, agreed to sell to Hal Foutz and Liane Foutz, the Defendants and Appellants, a certain residence located at 757 North 450 East, Orem, Utah. Exhibit 1 states, inter alia at lines 47 and 48: "this earnest money supersedes earnest money written November 29, 1977..." Exhibit 1 also acknowledges at lines 49 and 50 an earnest money deposit of \$600.00. Also, commencing at line 14, Exhibit 1 acknowledges receipt of a payment of \$10,000.00 from the buyers to the seller. Exhibit 1 provides that buyers shall pay monthly rent in the amount of \$350.00 per month until August 1, 1978 at which time the house was to close at which time the balance of \$41,400.00 shown on line 14 was to be paid. Exhibit 1 further provides that if the closing did not take place as scheduled on August 1, 1978, that buyers would return possession of the residence to the seller and the sellers would refund the \$10,000.00 deposit when the home was sold.

Exhibit 1 provides at line 52 that "time is of the essence of this Agreement."

The Court found that Exhibit 1 was not ambiguous and was a fair contract. (T.13, T.78, T.90). Accordingly, the

Court, with reference to lines 47 and 48 of Exhibit 1, quoted above, declined to receive into evidence a prior earnest money between the parties dated November 29, 1977.

There is no reference in the Agreement of the parties, Exhibit 1, to FHA or VA financing. The box on the multiple listing agreement (Exhibit 5) wherein a seller evidences an agreement to pay FHA or VA points is not checked.

(Alleged Misrepresentations as to FHA or VA Financing)

Apart from the written Agreements, the Defendants were advised that the Plaintiff would not agree to an FHA or VA sale (with an accompanying payment of "points" by seller). The record shows the following:

Mr. Whitney Lund was the real estate agent who handled the sales transaction for the subject residence. He had several discussions with the Defendants:

"I told Mr. and Mrs. Foutz that the seller had not agreed to pay the FHA or VA points on the home, but that the home-or rather they could probably finance the home FHA if they were willing to make an offer at a higher price than \$52,000.00 list price. (T.42)

On cross-examination by counsel for the Defendants, Mr. Lund clarified his testimony regarding FHA or VA financing:

"I did not tell Mr. Foutz that the house would qualify for FHA or VA. I told him it would probably qualify and we had discussed that prior to making the original offer in November of 1977. (T.51)

Later in the trial, Mr. Lund was again asked about FHA or VA financing. He was specifically asked if he had dis-



cussed such financing with Mr. Price, the principal of Price Construction Company and Mr. Lund stated:

"Okay. Mr. Price has always stated that he would not pay the discount points with regards to FHA or VA offers, but he would consider paying them if the sales price came in higher." (T.54)

Mr. Lund was then asked if he conveyed the foregoing conversation to the Defendants, to which he responded:

"We determined that we would go conventionally rather than FHA or VA." (T.54)

Mr. Lund was again asked about FHA or VA financing and the following questions and answers ensued:

"Q. Did you relay the conversation that you had with Mr. Price regarding the VA and FHA to Mr. and Mrs. Foutz?

A. Yes. I did.

Q. What response, if any did they make to the conversation that you relayed to them?

A. After showing them some financial calculations on how much money they would save by going either way, they determined that it would be best if they went conventionally and that is how the offer was made.

Q. I believe you testified that you filled out Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 1, is that correct sir?

A. Yes, I did.

Q. Was that done on the meeting on May 25, 1978, at which meeting Mr. Price and Mr. and Mrs. Foutz and yourself was present?

A. Yes.

Q. If Price Construction were to pay FHA and VA points, is there a customary practice in the industry with respect to the manner in which you indicate that on the prospective agreement?

A. There is a custom or practice in the industry, at least in this valley, if an offer is going to be made FHA or VA because points can fluctuate anywhere from

three to ten per cent. We normally put the maximum amount of points which the seller will agree to pay on a FHA or VA offer.

Q. Does any language such as that appear on Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 1 as you can observe it? (indicating)

A. No language appears." (T.55, emphasis added)

The multiple listing agreement, Exhibit 5, contains no reference to payment by seller of FHA or VA points and there was testimony that it is customary in Utah County to indicate an agreement by the seller to pay points if the residence is to be sold FHA or VA. (T.52)

Exhibit 1 was signed by the parties on May 25, 1978, at which meeting Mr. Whitney Lund, the real estate agent, Mr. Brian Crandall, a representative of Price Construction Company and Mr. and Mrs. Foutz were in attendance. With regard to that meeting, Mr. Crandall was asked whether FHA or VA points were discussed and Mr. Crandall responded:

"THE WITNESS: It was brought up by Mr. Foutz. He mentioned a little background at this point as they were pleading for an extension of time. They insisted they had financing in process and they wanted an extension and he brought up the point that the reasons they needed an extension is that they had wasted time trying to get FHA and VA financing.

Q. To which you responded?

A. I was surprised because this is the first time we had heard that they were even interested in FHA and VA being the offer was made conventional.

Q. What did you say to Mr. Foutz?

A. I said that it can't go FHA or VA.

Q. To which he responded?

A. He says that I know that now.

Q. This was prior to the signing of the agreement?

A. This was before they signed the offer. That is correct.

Q. That is all." (T.120-121, emphasis added)

Mr. Brian Crandall also testified as follows regarding  
FHA or VA financing:

Q. Now were you present at the time that Exhibit 1 was filled out?

A. Yes I was.

Q. Did you or the real estate agent at anytime suggest that it be placed on Exhibit 1 that the home would not qualify for FHA or VA financing?

A. No, it was not. It was not brought up.

Q. Didn't you think that was rather a significant point, a person buying a home?

A. No, because Mr. Foutz did understand that it not go FHA. There was no reason to put that on there." (T.122-123)

The Defendant himself was asked on cross-examination about his understanding regarding FHA and VA financing at the time Exhibit 1 was signed by the parties on May 25, 1978. Mr. Foutz testified as follows:

"Q. I would be glad to talk as loud as you would like. You testified did you not at the beginning of your testimony that at the meeting on May 25, 1978, you understood that Mr. Price would not pay the points?

A. That is correct. That is what Mr. Whitney Lund told us. Mr. Price never told us.

Q. You understood through Mr. Lund that Mr. Price would not pay FHA or VA points?

A. That is correct." (T.99, emphasis added)

(Plaintiff as Owner or a Broker)

On the question of ownership of the subject residence, Mr. Lawrence M. Price testified that he was president of Price Construction Company, Inc. (T.3) Mr. Price then testifies as follows:

"Q. Is Price Construction Company the owner and builder of the subject residence located at or about 757 North 450 East in Orem?

A. Yes sir."

There was no evidence contracting the foregoing testimony as to ownership of the subject residence.

The record demonstrates the following with respect to the \$600.00 earnest money and the \$10,000.00 down payment paid by the Defendants: Mr. Lawrence Price testified that the initial \$600.00 earnest money deposit was paid to Courtesy Realty at the time of the initial offer in approximately November of 1977 and that said amount was later in August of 1978 divided between Courtesy Realty and Mr. Whitney Lund and the Plaintiff corporation. Mr. Price further testified that the \$10,000.00 down payment was made directly to Price Construction Company by which the money was used to pay off obligations for purchase of the subject lot. (T.16)

Mr. Whitney Lund likewise testified that the \$10,000.00 down payment was made directly to Plaintiff. (T.38)

After the August 1, 1978 closing date had passed the \$600.00 was divided with Courtesy Realty retaining \$150.00,

the salesman, Mr. Lund receiving \$150.00 and Larry Price received \$300.00. (T.46-47) At page 87 of the transcript, the Defendant, Mrs. Foutz, testified on cross-examination that, apparently, it was her understanding that Price Construction would use the \$10,000.00, at the time it was received, to pay off certain debts with respect to the home. (T.87)

(Fairness and Equities Between the Parties)

Commencing at page 90 of the transcript, the Court made an extended observation concerning the facts in evidence to that point in the trial. Commencing part way through the comments of the Court, Judge Sam stated as follows:

"...but as I read the contract I feel that it appears on its face to be a very fair contract. I don't see anything on the contract on its fact that would in any way appear not to be entirely fair. In fact, it appears in my judgment to be fairer than most contracts relative to monies paid down. This contract provides that the \$10,000.00 will be returned and it appears that these buyers, unfortunate as it appears to be, that they are unable to get financing which I don't know how you can penalize the seller for that fact. The fact that they can't get financing, I don't know how you can penalize the seller for that unfortunate circumstance. I feel bad that they haven't been able to get financing, but to ask this court to carry this, the occupancy of this home on at infinitum--it has been occupied now since, apparently I gather now from this testimony I thought it was May of 1978 but it has been occupied by these Defendants since December of 1977 apparently?

MR. TAYLOR: That is correct sir.

THE COURT: And if they are unable to get financing, I don't know how you can penalize the seller for that unless the seller did some act that was so offensive in the way of fraud or misrepresentation or through some fraudulent inducement that causes these buyers these problems and I do not at this point see those

types of facts. Now what else do you have to present? You may proceed to try and convince me, but I don't see those types of facts and circumstances in this particular case. Now if you have law on this question of this seller being a real estate broker and using this \$10,000.00 in some dubious illegal way pursuant to the statutes, maybe you can convince me on this but this defendant says that it was her understanding that they were going to pay off the debts with that \$10,000.00. I don't see the type of conduct or even the statute we are concerned with here that would cause me to make some finding that would penalize this seller when it appears on the face of this contract that they prepared a contract for--on its face it appears to be extremely fair. Counsel now that is my observation. (T.90-91)

Lastly, it should be observed that two original transcripts of the trial proceedings have been made. The foregoing statement of facts have been taken from an original transcript dated July 17, 1979.

(Matters not in the Record)

At trial, there was contradictory testimony from witnesses for both Defendants as to whether the buyers, Mr. and Mrs. Foutz, as opposed to the seller, could pay the FHA and VA points. Subsequent to trial, Exhibits were attached to Memoranda by the parties supplementing their position on this issue. Appellants have included some of these Exhibits, which were not received into evidence, as part of their statement of facts. It is the position of the Plaintiff that these Exhibits, which were not received at trial, should not be considered on appeal. In the event the Court decides it should consider the same, the Plaintiff makes reference to the letter attached to its Memorandum of Points

and Authorities dated June 7, 1977, from Mr. L. C. Romney, Supervisor of Region VIII of the Department of Housing and Urban Development to the effect that regulations of the Department of Housing and Urban Development "require that the discount points, if any, are paid by the seller of the property."

A R G U M E N T

POINT I

THE FINDING OF FACT MADE BY THE TRIAL COURT ARE SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT EVIDENCE AND SHOULD NOT BE DISTURBED ON APPEAL.

It is the established rule of the Utah Supreme Court that Findings of Fact made by a trial judge will not be disturbed on appeal if they are supported by competent evidence.

Mr. Lawrence Price, President of the Plaintiff corporation testified that that corporation was the owner and builder of the subject residence. The Sales Agreement, Exhibit 1 recites the Plaintiff, Price Construction Company as the seller of the subject agreement. Based on this competent evidence, it is respectfully submitted that the trial court, Judge Sam, correctly found at paragraph one of the Findings of Fact that the Plaintiff, a Utah corporation, is the owner of a residence located at or about 757 North 450 East, Orem, Utah.

The transcript of proceedings and the foregoing Statement of Facts demonstrate that the Defendants and Appellants were repeatedly advised that the Plaintiff would not agree to FHA or VA financing. Consistent therewith, the multiple listing agreement, Exhibit 5, and the actual agreement between the parties, Exhibit 1, contains no expression to the effect that the seller and Plaintiff would pay FHA or VA points. Testimony was received that it is customary in the real estate practice in Utah County to show in the earnest money agreement, that the seller will



pay FHA or VA points because the same are a considerable expense to the seller. Accordingly, there was considerable competent evidence to support findings to the effect that the Plaintiff did not agree to sell the subject residence by FHA or VA financing.

Further, there is competent evidence to support the findings of the Court that the Plaintiff made no misrepresentations to Defendants prior to signing the subject agreement, Exhibit 1.

Mr. Lawrence Price and Mr. Whitney Lund both testified that the \$600.00 earnest money deposit was paid to Plaintiff through Century 21 Courtesy Realty and that the Defendants thereafter paid \$10,000.00 as down payment directly to the Plaintiff and that Defendants had full knowledge and disclosure of these actions.

The Defendants admit they remain in the subject residence and that they did not close as required on August 1, 1978.

For the foregoing reasons, the Plaintiff and Respondent respectfully submit that the trial court correctly found in favor of the Plaintiff on all of the foregoing Findings of Fact, which Findings should be sustained by the Court on appeal.

POINT II

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